Chronic Venous Insufficiency and Venous Ulcers: Pathophysiology

11

Subramoniam Vaidyanathan

Contents

Introduction	107
Risk Factors for Ulceration in CVI	108
venous Disease-Related Risk Factors	100
for Ulceration	108
Disease-Unrelated Factors	108
Stages and Location of Lesions in CVI	109
Structural and Functional Changes in CVI	110
Reflux in the Venous System	111
Nonthrombotic Iliac Vein Lesion	112
Calf Muscle Changes in CVI	112
Changes in the Deep Fascia of the Leg	112
Ankle Joint Dysfunction	113
Changes in the Lymphatic System	113
Molecular Events in Chronic Venous	
Insufficiency	113
Summary	115
References	116

Introduction

Progression of a clinical Class 2 venous disease to higher classes is an unpredictable but unfortunate event in the natural history of chronic venous disorders (CVD). It is not an essential event in all patients with CVD. Only a subset of patients go through this process. The triggering factors responsible for this transformation are not well understood. It is a slow degenerative process taking months and years. But when it does happen, the venous reflux which initially commenced in the superficial system extends to involve the deep veins and the perforators. Other symptoms such as edema (C3), venous eczema/lipodermatosclerosis (C4), and ulcers (C5-6) also become promi-The term, primary chronic venous nent. insufficiency (CVI) or simply CVI, is used to denote this condition. It includes the clinical classes from C3 to C6. Venous hypertension with microcirculatory impairment is the root cause for the clinical manifestations. The intensity of the morbidity associated with CVI was comparable with those seen in congestive cardiac failure and chronic lung disease [1].

There is another category of patients with almost identical clinical manifestations, secondary chronic venous insufficiency, resulting from post-thrombotic damage to deep veins. This is a late sequel of acute deep vein thrombosis (DVT). It is an acquired inflammatory pathology resulting in reflux, obstruction, or a combination of both in the deep veins. Involvement of the superficial

S. Vaidyanathan

General Surgery, Amrita Institute of Medical Sciences, Amrita Lane, Kochi, Kerala 682041, India e-mail: drsvaidyanathan@gmail.com

veins is a late event [2, 3]. It is commonly known as the *post-thrombotic syndrome* and is discussed in detail in Chap. 14. This chapter would focus on the pathophysiology of CVI. The following aspects would be reviewed:

- Risk factors for ulceration in CVI
- The stages and location of the lesions
- Structural changes in the veins and other tissues
- Molecular events

Risk Factors for Ulceration in CVI

Venous ulcer is the end stage in the evolution of chronic venous insufficiency. It is reported that venous ulcers affect around 1 % of the population during their lifetime [4]. Considering the prolonged and expensive treatment of venous ulcer, it will be more prudent to prevent the ulcers in the first setting itself. Identification of the risk factors for ulceration in a patient with varicose veins is essential for undertaking any such preventive strategies. Several population-based epidemiological studies focusing on the risk factors for varicose veins are available. Some studies have focused on the risk factors for ulceration in patients with established varicose veins [4, 5]. The etiology of venous ulcer is certainly multifactorial. Some of these may be related to the venous disease per se. A number of diseaseunrelated factors are also identified for the causation of ulcers. A brief review of these conditions is presented.

Venous Disease-Related Risk Factors for Ulceration

 Presence of skin changes such as lipodermatosclerosis, corona phlebectatica, and dermatitis in a patient with varicose veins aggravate the risk of ulceration [4]. These findings indicate an advanced clinical class of CEAP classification. The extent and severity of the varices were also reported to be significant. Fortynine percent of patients with ulcer had grade III varicose veins (extensive/severely symptomatic varicose veins – Basle classification), whereas only 33 % of the non-ulcerated limbs had grade III varices [4].

- *Reflux in deep veins* was found to be associated with higher incidence of ulceration. Of special interest is the status of the popliteal valve. Reflux in the popliteal vein is associated with a high incidence of ulceration [4]. In our experience, combined superficial, deep, and perforator incompetence (multisystem disease) is an important factor rather than involvement of an isolated segment. More than 50 % of our patients had reflux involving all the three systems.
- Failure of the microvenous valves in the small superficial veins along with degenerative changes in the small vessel network is being identified as a key to the skin changes including ulceration. It has been demonstrated that valvular incompetence can extend even up to the sixth-generation tributaries. Degeneration and valve failure are required at both the larger proximal vessels and the small superficial veins for the development of skin changes including ulceration. This issue is discussed later on in this chapter.
- DVT in patients with varicose veins increases the risk for ulceration by 25.7 times [5]. In the study reported by Robertson et al., 28 % of patients with ulceration had a positive history of DVT or pulmonary embolism. The figure for the group without ulceration was 8 % [4]. Varicose veins patients have a slightly increased risk of developing DVT (5.6 %) compared to general population (0.9 %) [6]. Deep vein reflux is a common finding in patients with C3 to C6 classes. Primary valvular incompetence (PVI) is one of the pathologies for such reflux. In this subset of patients, distal DVT are not uncommon below the refluxive valve [7]. Many of these episodes of DVT can be silent and asymptomatic, and these patients can present with late symptom of leg ulceration.

Disease-Unrelated Factors

• Age and gender. Generally, venous ulcers are observed at fairly advanced age. The mean

age for ulceration reported in one of the studies was 59 years [5]. For the non-ulcerated group, the mean age was lower by 10 years. In the same study, 60 % of patients with ulcers were men [5]. In contrast, for varicose veins, there is a female dominance. The Edinburgh vein study has also reported a higher incidence of CVI among men [8]. In our series, the mean age of the patients with ulceration was 57.10 years. We have also observed a higher male incidence among our CVI patients; 54.2 % of our patients with CVI were men.

- *Increased BMI*. Obesity (BMI 30 or more) is a significant risk factor for ulceration [4, 5]. But there are conflicting reports on this issue.
- *Cigarette smoking* was associated with a greater risk of ulceration. Those who smoked between 10 and 19 cigarettes per day were 1.8 times more likely to develop an ulcer [4, 5].
- *Prolonged standing* is a significant factor in the pathogenesis of CVD in general. But there is no evidence to show that this increases risk of ulceration [4]. More importantly many patients were found to be sedentary with low levels of physical exercise. Physical activity stimulates the calf muscle pump and reduces the venous hypertension [4].
- *Deficiency of calf muscle pump* function in CVI has been extensively reported. Whether calf muscle pump impairment is the cause or effect of CVI is a debatable issue. This is discussed in detail later in this chapter.
- *Restricted mobility of ankle joint* can contribute to and aggravate calf muscle pump dysfunction. Patients with ulcers demonstrated reduced dorsiflexion of the ankle joint, compared to normal controls [4]. Here again the cause-effect relationship is difficult to establish.
- Comorbidities. The incidence of heart diseases, diabetes, and hypertension was higher in the ulcerated group compared to the non-ulcerated group [5]. This could be related to the more advanced age of this group of patients.
- Associated leg injury. In one of the published reports, history of major trauma to the leg such as fractures was not uncommon in the group of patients with varicose veins and

ulceration [5]. This in turn can be a risk factor for clinical or subclinical DVT. It is pointed out that major trauma to the leg in patients with varicose veins increases the risk of ulceration by 4.7 times compared to those without any major injury [5].

Genetic predisposition to venous leg ulcers is an area of relatively recent interest. In a study conducted in Italian population, Zamboni and group have reported that in patients with CVD, the presence of hemochromatosis C282Y gene mutation consistently increases the risk of developing venous leg ulceration. In post-thrombotic disease, this association was not observed. The authors have recommended testing this mutation to screen highrisk patients of CVD and select them for early interventions to prevent ulceration [9]. Yet another mutation studied extensively was the coagulation factor XIII. But no correlation was observed between mutations of coagulation factor XIII and leg ulceration. In fact, the presence of factor XIII Leu 34 and Leu 564 was associated with smaller ulcer surface area and may indicate a favorable prognosis [10].

Stages and Location of Lesions in CVI

The structural and functional changes in the lower limb venous system alter the normal venous hemodynamics and result in venous hypertension. This is the root cause of CVI[11, 12]. Traditionally, the term venous stasis syndrome was used to describe the changes in the skin and soft tissues of lower leg. This was under the mistaken belief that venous stasis is the primary pathology in these patients. But now, it is well-recognized that venous hypertension is the key factor; CVI is the preferred term rather than venous stasis syndrome. Several stages are identified in the evolution of skin lesions in CVI: [2, 12].

 Corona phlebectatica. This is also known as ankle flare or malleolar flare and is considered to be an early sign of advanced venous disease. It presents as a fan-shaped pattern of numerous intradermal veins on the medial or lateral aspect of ankle and extends toward the 11 Chronic Venous Insufficiency and Venous Ulcers: Pathophysiology

foot. This results from dilatation of the intradermal venules due to the increased venous pressure. The apex of the flare is in relation to an incompetent perforator. The venous hypertension is transmitted through this vessel. It fans out toward the sole of the foot.

- Eczema and pigmentation present as an erythematous dermatitis progressing to blistering, weeping, or scaling eruption of the skin of the leg. This can be associated with brownish dark pigmentation of the skin. The venules are thin walled and cannot withstand the high pressure. They rupture and the blood extravasates into the tissues. The resultant hemosiderin pigments are responsible for the itching and discoloration.
- Venous lipodermatosclerosis (LDS). This is a sign of severe disease and is characterized by localized chronic inflammation and fibrosis of skin and subcutaneous tissue of the lower leg. It can produce fibrosis and contracture of the tendoachilles. The lesion can present as an acute or chronic form; the latter is more common. Pathologically it is a form of sclerosing panniculitis. This lesion is also in relation to an incompetent perforator, and through that it is connected to the main venous systems of the lower limbs. LDS is located over the site of maximum venous hypertension.
- Stage of ulceration. This is a full-thickness defect of the skin commonly located around the ankle region. The ulcer fails to heal spontaneously and is sustained by the CVD. The ulcer is also in relation to the medial calf perforating veins (Fig. 11.1).

These lesions of CVI are typically located in the skin and subcutaneous tissue around the ankle joint, an area known as ulcer-bearing area or gaiter area [12]. This area extends from the lower border of the soleus muscle to the ankle. The impact of the ambulatory venous hypertension is experienced maximally at this site. Several anatomical features make this area vulnerable [12].

• This region is located farthest from the heart and has therefore a high venous pressure even in normal persons. In subjects with CVD, the pressure is further elevated due to the venous pathology.



Fig. 11.1 Venous ulcer with lipodermatosclerosis. Fixed ankle joint

- The area has a relatively poor arterial supply.
- The action of the foot muscle pump can produce an extra load in this area. The venous flow in the foot is from deep to superficial veins when the foot muscle pump acts [13–15]. In a patient with defective calf muscle pump, this extra load around the ankle may create a strain.

Structural and Functional Changes in CVI

Failure of the calf muscle pump and impaired venous return from lower extremity generate venous hypertension. It is now accepted that venous ulcer cannot exist in the presence of a normally functioning calf muscle pump. Calf muscle pump function can be adversely affected in the presence of structural or functional changes in several systems and locations. These locations are enumerated below:

- Reflux in the venous systems
- Nonthrombotic iliac vein lesion
- · Changes in the calf muscles
- Changes in the deep fascia
- · Ankle joint dysfunctions
- · Changes in the lymphatic system

Reflux in the Venous System

Venous reflux is the most consistent structural change observed in patients with CVI. Reflux commences in the superficial veins, and as the clinical class progresses, it extends to the perforator and the deep systems.

Reflux in the superficial venous system is the initial event in primary CVI. Venous ulcers are considered to be rare in patients with isolated superficial vein reflux, but 15.2–20 % of patients had isolated superficial vein incompetence only [16, 17]. Ulceration is commonly observed when reflux exists in both superficial and deep systems. Robertson et al. reported that in 43 % of patients with ulceration, there was combined superficial and deep vein reflux [4]. As already mentioned, CVI primarily and predominantly affects the superficial system [3].

Incompetent medial calf perforators are considered to be an important factor in the genesis of venous ulcer. They can produce a high pressure leak of blood from the deep to superficial vein during the contraction of the calf muscles producing ambulatory venous hypertension [18–20]. An incompetent calf perforator is considered significant, only when the calf muscle pump is defective or when there is pathology in the deep veins [21]. Objective findings of such pathological perforators include outward flow duration more than 500 ms and size equal to or more than 3.5 mm [22]. Incompetent perforators in a C2 class of patient revert to normal when the superficial reflux is eliminated.

Reflux in the deep veins, along with superficial and communicating vein incompetence, is a common finding in patients with venous ulcers

(C6 class) [23–25]. Deep vein reflux is seen in less than 10 % in C2 class in comparison to 70 % in C6 class [3]. Two causes are suggested for reflux in the deep veins, the valve theory and the wall theory [26].

The valve theory suggests that reflux results from a thrombotic or nonthrombotic pathology. The most widely identified etiology for the damage and destruction of valves in the deep veins is post-thrombotic pathology. The nonthrombotic cause for deep vein valve failure was first identified and described by Robert Kistner. He coined the term primary vein valve incompetence (PVI) for this condition. In this condition, the valve cusps are stretched and elongated, floating freely in the vein lumen. The two cusps fail to meet and close in the midline, thus permitting reflux [23]. These changes are predominantly located in the proximal segments. Many etiological factors are suggested for this: wear and tear, phlebitis, connective tissue defects, etc. [26]. PVI can develop in the deep veins in discontinuous segments. The failure of deep vein valves may not happen in a sequential ascending or descending fashion [26].

The wall theory: The basic problem here is circumferential dilatation of the vein wall at the level of valve apparatus. The valve cusps are normally formed, but because of the increase in luminal circumference, they fail to meet across and close the vein lumen. Several factors are suggested for this defect. They include phlebitis and defect in the connective tissue framework [26].

Irrespective of the cause, reflux in deep veins impairs the lower limb venous return. In normal individuals, the calf muscle pump along with the competent valves ensures a streamlined, unidirectional cephalad flow in the deep veins. When there is reflux in the deep veins, this is converted into a bidirectional, turbulent, up and down movement – the "yo-yo" effect (Fig. 3.5). The net effect is volume overload leading on to hypertension in the deep venous system. The perforator and superficial systems become incompetent secondary to this overload - the safety valve effect. The crucial factor in genesis of leg ulcer is the status of the popliteal vein valve. When this is competent, ulceration is rare even with extensive disease. On the other hand, incompetence of this valve results in ulceration. Hence, the popliteal valve is referred to as the gatekeeper [4]. Lim and colleagues have tried to define the precise clinical and hemodynamic significance of deep vein reflux (DVR) while controlling reflux in the superficial system. The study included 3,222 limbs in 2,349 patients using duplex ultrasound, CEAP classification, and venous filling index (VFI). According to them, DVR to the level of the knee and calf is associated with more severe disease irrespective of reflux in superficial veins [25].

Isolated involvement of a single system is extremely rare in clinical practice. According to Raju, multisystem multilevel reflux is more pathological than a single-system single-level reflux [24]. Our experience has been the same; 58 % of our patients had combined reflux in the superficial, perforator, and deep systems.

Reflux in the microvenous valves is now in the center stage. Till recently, it was believed that valves do not exist in veins <2 mm in diameter. This is now disproved. Reflux in the smaller venous tributaries is now recognized as an important factor in the pathogenesis of skin lesions in CVI. Microvenous valves can exist up to the sixth-generation tributaries with the third generation forming the boundary in pathological states. Failure of microvalves is shown to be a key factor for skin changes. Such changes can be present even in the absence of reflux within the GSV or its branches. Macro- and microvessel involvement when combined aggravates the severity of the lesions [27]. Sometimes even with extensive varices, some patients do not develop skin problems. This could be explained by the presence of competent microvalves especially in the thirdgeneration boundary venules. These vessels are inaccessible for surgical intervention. There is robust evidence to show that foam sclerotherapy can obliterate them.

Nonthrombotic Iliac Vein Lesion

Nonthrombotic iliac vein lesion (NIVL) results from extraluminal compression of the left common iliac vein. The vein is compressed at its commencement by the right common iliac artery. This is a permissive lesion which requires another pathology such as trauma, cellulitis, edema, etc., to become clinically manifested. This condition is also known as May-Thurner syndrome and is being increasingly identified in a large number of CVD patients. The pathology can be totally corrected by endovenous stenting [28]. This is the only condition of primary CVI where obstruction of the deep vein is identifiable.

Calf Muscle Changes in CVI

Structural changes in the calf muscles are identified in a number of patients with CVI. The clinical relevance of such findings is not properly understood. Significant functional impairment of the calf muscles was reported by Yang and his colleagues in 1999 [29]. Diminished calf muscle pump function is reported as a risk factor for ulceration in patients with varicose veins [4]. Biopsy and electron microscopic study of gastrocnemius muscle in patients with CVI has demonstrated several structural changes [30]. The changes correlated with ambulatory venous pressure (AVP) findings [30]. A recent study has reported increased calf muscle deoxygenation in patients with CVI [31]. It has been proposed that, rather than the calf muscle impairment resulting from CVI, the poor calf muscle itself may be responsible for pump failure in some patients with leg ulceration [4]. It has been reported that calf muscle pump function and dynamic calf muscle strength improved in a group of CVI patients after 6 months of structured exercise [32]. Such structured exercise program has been suggested as an adjuvant to mainstream treatment in patients with CVI [32].

Changes in the Deep Fascia of the Leg

The deep fascia of the leg has a major role in the calf muscle pump mechanism. Patients who have undergone emergency fasciotomy for traumatic conditions are reported to have impaired calf muscle pump function leading onto CVI [33]. Similar changes have been reported in a group of patients who have undergone elective fasciotomy for chronic exertional compartment syndrome [34].

Ankle Joint Dysfunction

Limitation of ankle joint movement is a risk factor for the development of ulcers in patients with varicose veins [4]. Two findings noted in patients with nonhealing venous ulcers are restricted movements at ankle joint and calf muscle wasting [35]. The relevance of ankle joint mobility on venous ulcer healing and calf muscle pump function has been emphasized by several workers [36–38] (Fig. 11.1).

Changes in the Lymphatic System

Absorption of interstitial fluid and lymph is markedly disrupted adjacent to venous ulcer bed. Lymphatics were found to be absent in the ulcer bed and were present only sporadically in the intermediate zone [39].

The exact significance of these structural and functional alterations in the different locations is not fully understood. Whether they are the cause or the effect of CVI is also a debatable issue. It is well understood that these changes affect the calf muscle pump adversely and aggravate the venous hypertension setting in a vicious cycle. Correcting these changes would break the vicious cycle and improve the calf muscle function.

Molecular Events in Chronic Venous Insufficiency

The external manifestations of CVI are only the proverbial tip of the iceberg. At the cellular and molecular levels, a complex cascade of events is identified. Lim and Davies [26] and Perrin and Ramelet [40] have reviewed these complex changes, and the following is a summary based on their report.

Venous inflammation is a key factor in producing vein wall and valve damage, leading onto venous hypertension. The venous hypertension in turn causes further damage, setting in motion a self-propagating process. The changes involve the wall and the valves of the macro veins (the superficial and to some extent the deep veins). The changes in the macrovessels affect the microcirculation and finally the target tissue of CVI, the skin over the gaiter area. Thus, one can identify the molecular events at three levels: macrovessels, microcirculation, and dermal tissues.

The changes in the macrocirculation affect the vein wall and the valves. They commence from the venous endothelium. Areas of intimal hypertrophy with increased collagen content alternate with hypotrophic segments, with few smooth muscle cells (SMC) [26, 41]. The extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins are broken down, mostly by the action of the enzyme matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs). Venous hypertension is a stimulus for the upregulation of MMPs. The activity of MMPs is inhibited by several tissue inhibitors of MMPs (TIMPs).

MMP-TIMP imbalance is reported in patients with CVD [42]. The smooth muscle cells become dedifferentiated from a contractile to secretory phenotype and lose their ability to contract [43]. Apoptosis becomes dysregulated. These events result in dilatation and relaxation of the veins along with loss of venous tone. Repeated postural stress from prolonged standing leads to pooling of blood and more distortion of valves, resulting in leakage of blood. The endothelium exposed to flow reversal initiates endothelial and leukocyte activation. This activates the inflammatory response further.

The trigger for all these is an inflammatory pathology. Repeated inflammatory response brings in recurring damage to vein wall and the valves. Several inflammatory mediators are identified in this setting. They include vascular cell adhesion molecule I, intercellular adhesion molecule I, transforming growth factor beta, fibroblast growth factor beta, and vascular endothelial growth factor. The inflammatory cascade is a self-reinforcing process and damages the valves and affects the remodeling of vein wall.

In the microcirculation, venous hypertension increases the hydrostatic pressure leading onto interstitial edema. Leukocyte adhesion to capillary endothelium is promoted by venous hypertension, initiating intense inflammatory response. The inflammation leads onto widening of the gaps between the endothelial cells. The capillary permeability increases facilitating escape of macromolecules and RBCs into the interstitial space. An alternative theory is that there is an active transportation of RBCs and macromolecules through transendothelial channels [43]. Two other contributory factors are lymphatic damage and dysfunction of local nerve endings. Changes in the large veins would in turn produce alterations in the microcirculation and development of microangiopathy [44, 45]. Vincent and his colleagues have reported that failure of microvalves in the third- to sixth-generation tributaries would produce dermal backflow and skin changes, even in the absence of proximal reflux. Presence of reflux in the large veins further aggravates the skin changes [27].

Changes in the skin and dermal tissues over the gaiter area are obvious and visible. The target organ in CVI is the skin and subcutaneous tissues of the gaiter area. Several theories are offered to explain the skin and subcutaneous tissue damages. The stasis theory, the arteriovenous fistula theory, and the fibrin cuff theory have all been negated [43, 46]. The white cell trapping theory was proposed by Coleridge Smith and colleagues [46, 47]. This theory suggests that circulating neutrophils are trapped in the venous microcirculation as a consequence to venous hypertension and dependency of the limbs. The sluggish circulation and hypoxia in turn activate the neutrophils. The activated neutrophils produce tissue damage. Leukocyte activation is a major factor in the pathophysiology of CVI. But neutrophils could not be demonstrated in the capillaries. Hence, the credibility of the Coleridge Smith hypothesis has been challenged.

Pappas and colleagues have extensively reported on the venous microcirculation and endothelial cell characteristics [43, 48]. The dermal endothelial cells in patients with CVI were found to be normal on electron microscopic studies. There were no gaps between the cells. Gaps between the endothelial cells were considered to be the reason for escape of fluid and macromolecules leading onto tissue edema. These workers postulated that there is a transendothelial transportation of macromolecules. The macromolecules and red cells stimulate release of inflammatory mediators. Following this, leucocytes migrate to the interstitial space. Biopsy of gaiter areas in classes 4 and 5 patients revealed dominance of mast cells and macrophages. Lymphocytes, plasma cells, and neutrophils were not present in the perivascular space. Fibroblasts were observed in large numbers. The mast cell enzyme chymase is a potent activator of matrix metalloproteinases 1 and 3. The most characteristic finding observed in the dermal microcirculation in patients with CVI was the perivascular cuff and the accompanying collagen deposition. Originally, the perivascular cuff was thought to be due to fibrinogen extravasation and was erroneously referred to as "fibrin cuff." It is now realized that this cuff is formed by a ring of ECM proteins. These ECM protein cuffs can lead onto altered tissue remodeling and fibrosis. They also stimulate capillary angiogenesis. Pappas and team have suggested that endothelial cells of the dermal microcirculation are involved in the ECM cuff formation. These events are diagrammatically represented in Fig. 11.2a-c.

The cuff does not act as a diffusion barrier to oxygen and nutrients. Immunohistochemical studies have shown that the cuff "traps" TGF- β 1 and α 2-macroglobulins in its interstices. These trapped molecules are not available for the healing and regeneration of the dermal tissue resulting in altered tissue remodeling and fibrosis. This is known as the "trap hypothesis" [49].

Senescence of fibroblasts as a cause for ulceration was postulated by Hasan and colleagues based on the biopsy study of venous ulcers [50]. Failure to reepithelialize is the main reason for delayed healing of venous ulcers. These workers identified that dermal fibroblasts from venous ulcers are unresponsive to the action of transforming growth factor- β 1. This could result from senescence of the cells. This defective response may cause faulty deposits of extracellular matrix which



Fig. 11.2 Diagrammatic representation of molecular events. (a) Transendothelial migration of RBC and macromolecules. Endothelial cell gap normal. (b)

Inflammation with presence of mast cell, macrophages, and fibroblasts. Mast cell chymase – activator of MMPS I and III. (c) ECM breakdown and formation of ECM cuff



is needed for reepithelialization and wound healing. It was observed that basic fibroblast growth factor, epidermal growth factor, and interleukin-I β restored the growth potential of the senescent cells. This observation might imply a therapeutic potential for these factors in CVI [51] (Fig. 11.3a, b).

In conclusion, the microcirculatory events in CVI are a complex interplay of several factors. Venous hypertension is the trigger for these events. Alteration in ECM metabolism from overexpression of MMPs is a key factor along with diminished dermal fibroblast proliferation. Proper understanding of these cellular events can make way for the development of novel strategies for the prevention and treatment of venous ulcer.

Summary

Progression of a C2 clinical class of CVD to CVI is an unexplained and unpredictable event. A patient with varicose veins and leg ulcer is a common problem in clinical practice. The recurrent cycles of healing and breakdown of the ulcer impose considerable fiscal burden and social isolation for the patient. The basic hemodynamic defect in CVI is ambulatory venous hypertension.

Typical lesions of CVI are located over an area around the ankle, known as the gaiter area or ulcer-bearing area. There are specific anatomical reasons making this area vulnerable for such lesions.

Structural changes in the superficial and perforating veins in CVI are well known and easily correctable. Reflux in the deep veins due to valve failure is a finding constantly observed in a large number of patients along with reflux in superficial and perforator veins. Other areas demonstrating functional changes are the calf muscles, deep fascia of the leg, the ankle joint, and the lymphatic system.

A complex cascade of molecular events resulting from phlebitis has been identified. This is initiated by venous hypertension. The molecular events involve the large veins and the capillaries. The final target organ for these is the dermal tissue. A significant defect identified is an imbalance between MMPs and TIMPs.

References

- Carradice D, Mazari FAK, Samuel N, Allgar V, Hattfield J, ChetterI C. Modelling the effect of venous disease on quality of life. Br J Surg. 2011;98:1089–98.
- Eklof B, Rutherford RR, Bergan JJ, Carpentier PH, Gloviczki P, Kistner RL, Meisssner MH, Moneta GL, Myers K, Padberg FT, Perrin C, Ruckley V, Coleridge-Smith P, Wakefield TW. Revision of the CEAP classification for chronic venous disorders: consensus statement. J Vasc Surg. 2004;40:1248–52.
- Kistner RL, Eklof B. Classification and etiology of chronic venous disease. In: Gloviczki P, editor. Handbook of venous disorders: guidelines of the American Venous Forum. 3rd ed. London: Hodder Arnold; 2009. p. 37–46.
- Robertson L, Lee AJ, Gallagher K, Carmichael SJ, Evans CJ, Mc Kinstry BH, Fraser SCA, Allan PL, Welder D, Ruckley C, Fowkes FG. Risk factors for chronic ulceration in patients with varicose veins, a case control study. J Vasc Surg. 2009;49:1490–8.
- Scott TE, LaMorte WW, Gorin DR, Menzoian JO. Risk factors for chronic venous insufficiency: a dualcase control study. J Vasc Surg. 1995;22:622–8.
- Muller- Buhl U, Leutgeb R, Engeser P, Archankeng EN, Szecsenyi J, Laux G. Varicose veins are a risk factor for deep vein thrombosis in general practice patients. Vasa. 2012;41(5):360–5.
- Raju S. Surgical repair of deep vein valve incompetence. In: Gloviczki P, editor. Handbook of venous disorders: guidelines of the American Venous Forum. 3rd ed. London: Hodder Arnold; 2009. p. 472–82.
- Evans CJ, Fowkes FGR, Ruckley CV, Lee AAJ. Prevalence of varicose veins and chronic venous insufficiency in men and women in general population: Edinburgh Vein Study. J Epidemiol Community Health. 1999;53:149–53.
- Zamboni P, Toganazzo S, Izzo M, Pancaldi F, Scapoli GL, Liboni A, Gemmati D. Hemochromatosis C282Y gene mutation increases the risk of venous leg ulceration. J Vasc Surg. 2005;42:309–14.
- Tognazzo S, Gemmati D, Palazzo A, Catozzi L, Carandina S, Legnaro A, Giovanna Tacconi G, Scapoli GL, Zamboni P. Prognostic role of factor XIII gene variants in non healing venous leg ulcers. J Vasc Surg. 2006;44(4):815–9.
- Bergan JJ, Pascarella L, Schmid-Sconbein GW. Pathogenesis of primary chronic venous disease: insights from animal models of venous hypertension. J Vasc Surg. 2008;47:183–92.
- Dodd H, Cockett FB. The pathology and surgery of the veins of the lower limbs. 2nd ed. Edinburgh/ London: Churchill Livingston; 1976. p. 246–66.
- Strandness Jr DE, Thiele BL. Selected topics in venous disorders. New York: Futura Publishing Company; 1981. p. 17.
- Pegum JM, Fegan WG. Physiology of venous return from the foot. Cardiovasc Res. 1967;1:249–54.
- Burnand KG, Wadoodi A. The physiology and hemodynamics of chronic venous insufficiency of the lower

limb. In: Gloviczki P, editor. Handbook of venous disorders: guidelines of the American Venous Forum. 3rd ed. London: Hodder Arnold; 2009. p. 47–55.

- Sethia KK, Darke SG. Long saphenous incompetence as a cause of venous ulceration. Br J Surg. 1984;71:754–5.
- Hoare MC, Nicolaides AN, Miles ER, Shull K, Jury RP, Needham TN, Dudley HAF. Role of primary varicose veins in venous ulceration. Surgery. 1982;92:450–3.
- Negus D, Friedgood A. The effective management of venous ulceration. Br J Surg. 1983;70:623–7.
- Burnand KG, O' Donnel TF, Thomas ML, Browse NL. Relative importance of incompetent communicating veins in the production of varicose veins and venous ulcers. Surgery. 1977;82:9–14.
- Recek C. Impact of the calf perforating vein on the venous haemodynamics in primary varicose veins. J Cardio Vasc Surg (Torino). 2006;47(6):629–35.
- Zukowski AJ, Nicolaides AN, Szendro G, Irvine A, Lewis R, Malouf GM, Hobbs JT, Dudley HA. Haemodynamic significance of incompetent perforating veins. Br J Surg. 1991;78(5):625–9.
- 22. Gloviczki P, Comerota AJ, Dalsing MC, Eklof BG, Gillespie DL, Gloviczki ML, Lohr JM, Mc Lafferty RB, Meissner MH, Murad MH, Padberg FT, Pappas PJ, Passman MA, Raffeto JD, Vasquez MA, Wakefield TW. The care of patient with varicose veins and associated chronic venous diseases: clinical practice guidelines of the Society for Vascular Surgery and the American Venous Forum. J Vasc Surg. 2011;53(5 suppl):2s–48.
- Kistner RL. Primary venous valve incompetency of the leg. Am J Surg. 1980;140:218–24.
- Raju S. Venous insufficiency of the lower limbs and stasis ulceration changing concepts and management. Ann Surg. 1983;197:688–97.
- Lim KH, Hill G, Tarr G, van Rij A. Deep venous reflux: definition and associated clinical and physiological significance. J. Vasc Surg: Venous and Lymphatic Disorders. 2013;1(4):325–32.
- Lim CS, Davies AH. Pathogenesis of primary varicose veins. Br J Surg. 2009;11:1231–42.
- Vincent JR, Jones GT, Hill GB, van Rij AM. Failure of microvenous valves in small superficial veins is key to the skin changes of venous insufficiency. J Vasc Surg. 2011;54:62s–9.
- Neglen P. Endovascular reconstruction for chronic iliofemoral vein obstruction. In: Gloviczki P, editor. Handbook of venous disorders: guidelines of the American Venous Forum. 3rd ed. London: Hodder Arnold; 2009. p. 491–502.
- Yang D, Yvonne K, VandongenY K, Stacey MC. Changes in calf muscle in chronic venous disease. Cardiovasc Surg. 1999;7–4:451–6.
- Qiao T, Liu C, Ran F. The impact of gastrocnemius muscle cell changes in chronic venous insufficiency. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg. 2005;30:430–6.
- Yamaki T, Nozaki M, Sakurai H, Soejima K, Kono T, Hamahata A. Advanced chronic venous insufficiency is associated with increased calf muscle deoxygenation. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg. 2010;39(6): 787–94.

- Padberg FT, Johnston MV, Sisto SA. Structured exercise improves calf muscle pump function in chronic venous insufficiency. J Vasc Surg. 2004; 39(1):79–87.
- Bermudez K, Knudson MM, Morabito D, Kessel O. Fasciotomy, chronic venous insufficiency and the calf muscle pump. Arch Surg. 1998;133(12):1356–61.
- 34. Singh N, Sidaway AN, Bottoni CR, Antedomenico E, Gawley TS, Harada D, Gillepsie DL, Uyehara CF, Cordts PR. Physiological changes in venous haemodynamics associated with elective fasciotomy. Ann Vasc Surg. 2006;20(3):301–5.
- Davies JA, Bull RH, Farrelly IJ, Wakelin MJ. A home based exercise programme improves ankle range of motion in long term venous ulcer patients. Phlebology. 2007;2:86–9.
- Barwel JR, Taylor M, Deacon J, Davies C, Whyman MR, Poskitt KR. Ankle motility is a risk factor for healing of chronic venous leg ulcers. Phlebology. 2001;16:38–40.
- Back TL, Padberg FT, Araki CT, Thompson PN, Hobson RW. Limited range of motion is a significant factor in venous ulceration. J Vasc Surg. 1995;22:519–23.
- Kugler C, Strunk M, Rudofsky G. Venous pressure dynamics of the healthy human leg: role of muscle activity, joint mobility and anthropometric factors. J Vasc Surg. 2001;38:20–9.
- Eliska O, Eliskova M. Morphology of lymphatics in human venous crural ulcers with lipodermatosclerosis. Lymphology. 2001;34(3):111–23.
- Perrin M, Ramelet AA. Pharmacological treatment of primary chronic venous disease; rationale, results and unanswered questions. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg. 2011;41:117–25.
- Bergan JJ, Scmid- Schonben G, Coleridge Smith P, Niccolaides A, Boisseau M, Eklof B. Chronic venous disease. N Engl J Med. 2006;355:488–98.

- 42. Lim CS, Shalhoub J, Gohel MS, Shepherd AC, Davies AH. Matrix metalloproteinases in vascular diseases – a potential therapeutic target? Curr Vasc Pharmacol. 2010;8:75–85.
- 43. Pappas P, Lal BK, Padberg Jr FT, Zickler RW, Duran WN. Pathogenesis of varicose veins and cellular pathophysiology of chronic venous insufficiency. In: Gloviczki P, editor. Handbook of venous disorders: guidelines of American Venous Forum. 3rd ed. London: Hodder Arnold; 2009. p. 56–69.
- Steins A, Hahn M, Jünger M. Venous ulcers and microcirculation. Clin Hemorheol Microcirc. 2001;24(3): 147–53.
- Jünger M, Steins A, Hahn M, Hafner HM. Microcirculatory dysfunction in chronic venous insufficiency. Microcirculation. 2000;7(S1):S 3–12.
- Shami SK, Shields DA, Scurr JH, Coleridge- Smith PD. Leg ulceration in venous disease. Postgrad Med J. 1992;68:779–85.
- Coleridge Smith PD, Thomas P, Scurr JH, Dormandy JA. Causes of venous ulceration; a new hypothesis. BMJ. 1988;296:1726–7.
- 48. Pappas PJ, De Fouw DO, Venezio LM, Gorti R, Padberg FT, Silva Jr MB, Goldberg MC, Duran WN, Hobson RW. Morphometric assessment of dermal microcirculation in patients with chronic venous insufficiency. J Vasc Surg. 1997;26(5):784–95.
- 49. Falanga V, Eaglestein WH. The trap hypothesis of venous ulceration. Lancet. 1993;341:1006–8.
- Hasan A, Murata H, Flabella A, Ochoa S, Zhou L, Badiavas E, Falanga V. Dermal fibroblasts are unresponsive to the action of transforming growth factor – B1. J Dermatol Sci. 1997;16(1):59–66.
- Stanley AC, Park H, Phillips TJ, Russakoysky V, Menzoian JO. Reduced growth of dermal fibroblasts from chronic venous ulcers can be stimulated with growth factors. J Vasc Surg. 1997;26:994–1001.